2018

The State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Matthew Gordon Eyre Defendant/Appellant : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

INTRODUCTION

Eyre was charged as an accomplice to aggravated robbery after Jesse Rakes—the principal actor—attempted to take the vehicle of the alleged victim. In initiating contact with the alleged victim, Rakes relied on the false claim that he needed assistance in jump starting his car. One of the State’s primary theories of accomplice liability was that Eyre aided the aggravated robbery by searching for jumper cables. Yet, evidence showed that Eyre thought the robbery was a “bad [] idea” and did not want to participate. Despite this evidence, trial counsel did not object to the accomplice elements instruction, which understated accomplice liability’s mens rea requirement. This instruction was flawed because it did not explain to the jury that Eyre needed to act with the intent that aggravated robbery be committed. Eyre argues that trial counsel’s failure to object to the incorrect

instruction constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. Thus, this Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

A new trial is warranted for another reason: the jury was allowed to replay Eyre's videotaped police interview during deliberations. The trial court correctly recognized that the jury's viewing of the interview was improper. But the trial court erred in determining that the error was harmless and that a mistrial was not warranted. Finally, Eyre argues that the cumulative effect of the errors undermines confidence that he had a fair trial.

ISSUES, STANDARDS OF REVIEW, PRESERVATION

Issue I: Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object to an instruction that understated accomplice liability's mens rea requirement.

Standard of Review/Preservation: This Court reviews challenges to jury instructions for correctness. *Cheves v. Williams*, 1999 UT 86, ¶20, 993 P.2d 191. The issue is not preserved. But it can be reached under the doctrine of ineffective assistance of counsel, which is an exception to the preservation rule and is reviewed as a matter of law. *See, e.g., State v. Kozlov*, 2012 UT App 114, ¶28, 276 P.3d 1207.

Issue II: Whether the trial court should have granted Eyre's mistrial motion where the jury was allowed to replay Eyre's videotaped police interview during deliberations.

Standard of Review/Preservation: A trial court's ruling on a motion for

mistrial is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Cardall*, 1999 UT 51, ¶19, 982 P.2d 79. This issue is preserved. R.240-45 (memorandum in support of mistrial); 248-54 (State’s memorandum in opposition); 257-62 (ruling); 872-82 (discussion, argument, and motion for mistrial); 912-15 (additional argument and ruling). Moreover, the issue may be reviewed for ineffective assistance.

Issue 3: Whether cumulative error requires reversal.

Standard of Review/Preservation: A claim of cumulative error “requires [this Court] to apply the standard of review applicable to each underlying claim of error.” *Radman v. Flanders Corp.*, 2007 UT App 351, ¶4, 172 P.3d 668.

Preservation is inapplicable.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

a. Background

On the morning of August 28, 2016, Boyfriend and Girlfriend¹ went to “the shelter” area and parked their Dodge Challenger on 300 South between 500 and 600 West. R.549-52, 632. Girlfriend was a heroin addict and was looking to purchase drugs in the area. R.632, 650.

A PT Cruiser occupied by Eyre, Michael Polk, and Jesse Rakes was parked nearby. *See* R.553-54, 583, 758. At some point, Rakes approached Girlfriend and Boyfriend. R.553-54, 591. Rakes asked Boyfriend if Boyfriend would “help jump their vehicle because it wouldn’t start.” R.553. Boyfriend offered to help. R.554-55, 635.

¹ Eyre refers to the alleged victims as “Boyfriend” and “Girlfriend” throughout this brief.

Boyfriend, the driver of the Challenger, then pulled his vehicle to the east of the PT Cruiser, parking it “[n]ose to nose” with the other vehicle in a “V” shape.” R.555-56, 600, 636; *see* State’s Ex. 1. Girlfriend remained in the Challenger as Boyfriend got out, popped the hood, and stood in between the vehicles next to the Challenger’s front passenger side. R.554-56, 635-36.

At this point, Polk and Eyre had also exited the vehicle and were in the back of PT Cruiser “rummaging around” in the trunk; Girlfriend and Boyfriend thought they were looking for jumper cables. R.556, 626, 637-38, 652. Rakes joined Boyfriend in between the cars and the two engaged small talk. R.556, 598, 638-39, 650-51.

According to Girlfriend and Boyfriend, Rakes then lifted up his shirt and flashed a pistol that was tucked into his waistband. R.557-58, 591-92, 639. Girlfriend and Boyfriend provided conflicting testimony regarding whether Eyre flashed a pistol as well. *Compare* R.652-59, 663, *with* R.558-61.

Rakes then announced, “[y]ou know what this is.” R.560, 600, 639-40. Next, he said something to the effect of “I’m” or “we’re” taking your car and your belongings, though the testimony was inconsistent regarding precisely what was said. R.560, 593-96, 600-01, 639-40, 814-15. He then threatened, “[g]et your bitch out of the car. I’m going to pistol whip her.” R.560, 600, 639-40.

Boyfriend had a gun in the Challenger, and without anyone noticing, Girlfriend passed the gun to Boyfriend through the passenger side window. R.560-61, 601-02, 641-42. Shortly after doing so, a gunshot was fired; Boyfriend

had shot Rakes. R.562-63, 583-84, 641-42, 657.

Boyfriend testified that he shot Rakes in self-defense. R.562-63, 609.

According to Boyfriend, Rakes drew a gun in Boyfriend's direction at which point Boyfriend fired. R.562-63. Rakes staggered and fell to the ground. *Id.* The shot left Rakes fatally wounded, and Rakes died that day from the wounds inflicted by the shot. R.583-84. Soon after the shooting, Eyre left the scene. R.768-69, 787-88, 804-05.

Girlfriend and Boyfriend started to drive away. R.563-65, 642-45. As they were doing so, the PT Cruiser—driven by Eyre's co-defendant, Michael Polk—hit the Challenger's rear end. R.564-65, 605, 644-45, 787; State's Ex. 10 (facing west at 7:25:40-7:26:05). The impact caused the PT Cruiser to flip, but Polk was able to exit. *Id.*; State's Exs. 5, 10 (facing west at 7:26:05-7:27:00). Girlfriend and Boyfriend drove away. R.645.

Back at the crime scene, "a bunch of people" had rushed towards Rakes and the flipped PT Cruiser. R.645-46; State's Ex. 10 (facing west at 7:27:00). According to police, these people robbed Rakes and took items from the PT Cruiser. R.645-46, 733.

Girlfriend and Boyfriend parked nearby and prepared for the arrival of the police. R.565, 645. Boyfriend and Girlfriend were restricted persons, so Girlfriend got rid of Boyfriend's gun before police got there. R.566-69, 585, 660, 606-07, 645-47. To alter his appearance, Boyfriend also changed his shirt. R.567.

Police arrived and arrested Boyfriend. R.584. Although Girlfriend

successfully disposed of Boyfriend's gun and ammunition, a search of Boyfriend's Challenger revealed an ounce of marijuana, a gun cleaning kit, a scale for measuring drugs, and 37 bags of suspected spice (which ultimately tested negative for a controlled substance). R.586, 737-38. Officers also found a magazine to a pistol in the PT Cruiser. R.733-35. But other than that, police found "very little physical evidence" at the scene of the crime, which was "compromised" by the various individuals who rushed to the scene. R.732. Police never recovered a gun from Rakes's person. R.790.

Police spoke to a witness who observed a man in a dark hoody run from the crime scene. R.670-74, 711-15, 804-07. This information led an officer to stop Eyre near 800 West 800 South. R.714-15. The officer initially let Eyre go after he denied involvement, but the officer later learned that detectives wanted to speak with Eyre. R.716-19. Eyre was arrested near 425 West 1300 South and was subsequently interviewed. R.719-20. No gun was found on his person. R.725-26.

Based on this incident, the State charged Eyre with aggravated robbery, a first degree felony, under a theory of accomplice liability. R.1-7, 66-68. The State also alleged that Eyre committed this crime in concert with two or more people and sought enhancement under Utah Code § 76-3-203.1. After a preliminary hearing, Eyre was bound over on this charge. R.62-65, 294-446.

b. Trial

A two-day jury trial was held on October 17-18, 2017. R.196-201. Through its witnesses—among them, Girlfriend and Boyfriend—the State presented the

evidence outlined above. *See supra* section a. The testimony of Girlfriend and Boyfriend, however, differed regarding the extent of Eyre's involvement.

Compare R.652-59, 663, *with* R.558-61. To try to prove its case, the State also introduced Eyre's interview with the police. R.751-72; State's Ex. 11. After the presentation of evidence, the trial court instructed the jury regarding accomplice liability. R.222, 226-28. And ultimately, the jury found Eyre guilty as charged. R.230-31, 884.

Boyfriend and Girlfriend offer different accounts regarding Eyre's involvement: Girlfriend testified that she first observed Eyre at the back of the PT Cruiser digging through the trunk. R.652. To Girlfriend's knowledge, that is where he stayed. *Id.* Eyre did not say anything or do anything that Girlfriend viewed as threatening. R.655-59. While Girlfriend observed Rakes flash his weapon, she did not observe Eyre flash a gun or leave the trunk area. R.655-57. Girlfriend testified that she believed Eyre did nothing to further the crime. R.663.

Meanwhile, Boyfriend testified Eyre left the trunk area and joined Rakes in between the cars. R.558-60. Eyre stood side by side with Rakes and "flashed a pistol" that was under his shirt. R.558-61, 579, 601. Boyfriend considered Eyre a threat, and after shooting Rakes, attempted to shoot Eyre as well. R.563, 578-80. The gun, however, misfired. *Id.* Boyfriend then became focused on leaving the scene and lost sight of Eyre. R.564, 603.

Through cross-examination, the defense highlighted various inconsistencies between Boyfriend's trial testimony and preliminary hearing

testimony. *E.g.* R.551, 581-83 (inconsistency regarding whether Boyfriend was in the area with a purpose to buy drugs); R.590-91 (inconsistency regarding whether Rakes asked if Boyfriend would jump start “his” car or “our” car). The defense also put on witnesses and elicited testimony seeking to demonstrate that Boyfriend’s story changed over time. *E.g.* R.816-17 (officer testifying that Boyfriend never mentioned anything about a second man who flashed a gun). Moreover, the defense emphasized that based on the incident Boyfriend faced charges for second degree felony possession of a firearm by a restricted person. R.608-14; *see also* 568-70. But the State offered Boyfriend a class A misdemeanor in exchange for testifying “truth[fully]” at Eyre’s trial. *Id.* Finally, the defense sought to undermine Boyfriend’s testimony that Eyre was armed by presenting evidence that a man resembling Eyre appeared to be shielding himself as he fled from the scene. R.805-06; *see also* R.856. Additionally, no weapon was recovered from Eyre. R.725-26.

Eyre’s interview. Eyre did not testify, but his videotaped police interview was admitted into evidence as Exhibit 11 and was played for the jury. *See* R.751-72, 872-73. In his interview, Eyre initially told police that he did not witness or know anything about the incident. R.752. Subsequently, Eyre admitted to being present and looking for cables to jump start the PT Cruiser’s “d[ea]d” battery, but did not mention that Rakes “tried to take [Boyfriend’s] car.” R.758-61, 763-65. When police told Eyre that Rakes had died, Eyre became emotional and gave the following account. R.761; State’s Ex. 11.

Rakes, Polk, and Eyre had been sitting in the parked PT Cruiser for about 2-3 minutes when Rakes looked over and saw the Challenger. R.765-767, 769, 773. Rakes announced that he wanted to take it. *See* R.765, 767. Eyre wanted no part in driving around in a stolen car and warned Rakes that “[i]t [was] a bad ass idea.” R.765; State’s Ex. 11 (9:07-9:25).

Before exiting the PT Cruiser, Rakes “said he was going to ask for a jump start.” R.767, 773; State’s Ex. 11 (11:25-11:40). “As soon as [Rakes] got out of the car, he started spinning”—or telling a “bullshit” story about—the “jump thing.” R.772-73; State’s Ex. 11 (14:00-14:30); State’s Ex. 11 (9:45-9:50).² At some point, Rakes told Eyre to look for jumper cables and told Polk to pop the hood. R.767, 773; State’s Ex. 11 (11:35-11:45). Eyre proceeded to look for jumper cables in the back. R.773. According to Eyre, Rakes was “running the [] show.” R.766. In an earlier version of the story, Eyre said he eventually stated that they did not have cables. R.760, 773.

When asked about the “plan,” Eyre told police, “We didn't have a plan Didn't plan shit.” R.766; *see also* R.770; State’s Ex. 11 (15:43-16:05) (officer asking Eyre in the interview what Polk thought about the idea, and Eyre responding, “It wasn’t really talked about. It wasn’t discussed”).

Just prior to the shooting, Rakes said something to Boyfriend. R.760, 773,

² At trial, the detective testified that Eyre said in the interview that “*as soon as they got in the area*, Jesse started spinning this whole fuckin' jump start thing.” R.772 (emphasis added). But in Exhibit 11, Eyre can be heard saying: “*As soon as [Rakes] got out of the car*, he started spinning this whole fuckin' jump thing.” State’s Ex. 11 (14:00-14:30).

775. But Eyre joined them at the front of the car toward the end of their conversation, so he could not hear what was said. R.760, 773-75. Eyre then observed Boyfriend run in front of the Challenger and Rakes run after him. R.768, 774-75. Rakes was then shot, and he told Eyre, “run.” R.760, 768, 788. After that, Eyre left the scene. R.768-69, 788; State’s Ex. 11 (13:12-13:35). Moreover, Eyre told police that he did not flash or possess a gun that day; he did not know if Rakes had a gun; and he did not know what Rakes was doing when Rakes was shot. R.760, 768; State’s Ex. 11 (11:55-12:35).

Exhibit 11 was 23 minutes and 27 seconds long. *See* State’s Ex. 11. But only about the first 17 minutes and 45 seconds was played for the jury in open court. *See* R.751-72; State’s Ex. 11. In the remaining portion, the detective expresses his opinion that Eyre “w[ould] probably go to jail for robbery.” *See* State’s Ex. 11 (17:50-20:15). The recording also shows police handcuffing and taking mugshots of Eyre. *See* State’s Ex. 11 (17:50-23:15). The recording ends with footage of police taking Eyre into custody. *See* State’s Ex. 11 (23:05-23:27).

Jury Instructions. The State proceeded on a theory of accomplice liability and the jury was instructed accordingly. *See* R.847-48, 222, 226-28; *see also* Addendum A (relevant jury instructions). Instruction 40, which set forth the elements of party liability, told the jury that a defendant is guilty as an accomplice if: “(1) the defendant intentionally, (2) solicited, requested, commanded, encouraged, or intentionally aided another to commit the offense, **AND** (3) the offense was committed.” R.227 (bolding in original). Defense

counsel stipulated to the inclusion of this instruction. R.706.

c. Eyre's motion for mistrial.

On the second day of trial, Exhibit 11—Eyre's videotaped police interview—was offered and admitted into evidence by the State. R.751, 872-73. According to defense counsel, there was an agreement between the parties that the interview could be played for the jury. R.872. While the prosecutor had a different understanding of the agreement, R.872-73, defense counsel was under the impression that Exhibit 11 would not go into the jury room during deliberations. R.872, 875. Based on defense counsel's understanding, the defense stipulated to the "blanket admission" of all exhibits, including Exhibit 11. R.799, 875. All of the exhibits went back into the jury room. R.870-71.

During deliberations, the jury requested a computer with which to view the video exhibits. R.248-49, 873. Defense counsel believed that the jury sought to review different video exhibits—not Exhibit 11. R.873. Accordingly, a computer was provided. R.249, 873. When it occurred to defense counsel that Exhibit 11 might have gone into the jury room, defense counsel immediately notified a court employee, and the computer was retrieved. R.873-74. The bailiff confirmed that the jury watched Exhibit 11 in the jury room. R.874. The jury had the ability to access Exhibit 11 for 20 minutes. R.259, 873-74. When the recording was stopped, it appeared that seven minutes remained on the recording. R.880.

Defense counsel brought the issue to the court's attention and moved for a mistrial on the grounds that Exhibit 11 may have improperly influenced the jury.

R.874. The trial court ultimately ruled that the issue was timely raised and took the mistrial motion under advisement pending the jury verdict. R.877-79, 886-87. While the court reserved its ruling, it thought “on [the] face of” things that there was no prejudice, pointing to its belief that “[t]he jury ha[d] not been exposed to anything ... new or different.” R.879-80. Defense counsel clarified that Exhibit 11 contained footage that had not been played for the jury at trial. R.880-81. After the verdict, the court ordered briefing on the mistrial motion. R.886-87.

In his brief, Eyre argued that replaying the police interview permitted the jury to place undue emphasis on the recording—“the State’s most persuasive evidence against Eyre.” R.243; *see also* Addendum B (defendant’s memorandum in support of mistrial). Thus, Eyre argued, a mistrial should be declared. *Id.* Meanwhile, the State argued that Eyre waived any objection because Eyre stipulated to the admission of Exhibit 11. R.249-53; *see also* Addendum B (State’s opposition memorandum). Alternatively, it argued that a mistrial was not warranted on the merits. *Id.*

The trial court memorialized its decision in a written order. R.257-60; Addendum C (ruling). There, the court evidently rejected the State’s waiver argument and ruled on the issue. *Id.* The court determined that the “jury’s viewing of Exhibit 11 in the jury room during deliberations was improper.” R.259. But it determined that the error was harmless and denied Eyre’s mistrial motion. R.259-60.

At sentencing, the trial court entertained further argument on the mistrial motion. R.912-15. Defense counsel added that the jury was “deliberating for some time” before they requested Eyre’s interview, indicating “confusion or discussion about what [Eyre] may have said to the police.” R.913-14. But upon reviewing Eyre’s interview, they came back with a verdict “shortly thereafter.” *Id.* Based on this, counsel argued, the error was not harmless. *Id.* The trial court once again denied the motion for lack of prejudice. R.915.³

Eyre was sentenced to an indeterminate prison term of 10 years-to-life (in concert enhanced). R.266-268; *see also* Addendum D (Sentence, Judgment, Commitment). Eyre timely appealed. R.269-70. This appeal was transferred from the Utah Supreme Court to this Court. R.284-87.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I. Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object to an instruction that understated accomplice liability’s mens rea. To be guilty as an accomplice to aggravated robbery, Eyre needed to act “intentionally,” i.e., he needed to act with the intent or desire to cause aggravated robbery. The elements instruction on accomplice liability omitted this critical requirement. Instead, the instruction suggested that the intentional mental state attached only to the actions of “solicited, requested, commanded, or encouraged, or intentionally aided.” The instructions as a whole did not cure this deficiency.

Moreover, the instructional error improperly allowed jurors to convict if

³ The transcripts relevant to Eyre’s mistrial motion are attached at Addendum G.

they found that Eyre acted with an objective other than the desire to cause aggravated robbery. In effect, the error reduced the State's burden of proof. Thus, trial counsel performed deficiently by failing to object to an instruction that made it easier for the jury to convict.

Lastly, counsel's failure to object to the instruction undermines confidence in the verdict. There was record evidence that Eyre did not intend for his conduct to cause aggravated robbery. Indeed, the jury heard that Eyre did not want Rakes to commit the crime and did not want to take part in its commission. Moreover, the jury had reason to doubt Boyfriend's claim that Eyre participated in the robbery by flashing a gun. Thus, Eyre was prejudiced by counsel's failure to ensure that the jury was correctly instructed.

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