Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2018

State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Matthew Gordon Eyre, Defendant/Appellant: Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

In *Grunwald*, Grunwald was convicted of eleven counts as an accomplice, including aggravated murder, attempted aggravated murder, and aggravated robbery. 2018 UT App 46, ¶¶1, 19. On appeal, Grunwald argued that her counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the accomplice liability jury instructions because the instructions allowed her to be convicted

as an accomplice even if she did not possess the mental state of the principal offense. Id. ¶¶33-36. This Court agreed with Grunwald that her counsel performed deficiently by not objecting, but held that she had not proven her counsel was ineffective because she did not prove prejudice. Id. ¶¶42, 50-58.

In *Jeffs* and *Grunwald*, the accomplice liability instructions only included the erroneous accomplice liability elements instruction. Neither case included the additional accomplice liability statute or definition instructions, as is the case here. *Jeffs* and *Grunwald* are therefore inapplicable. *See* 2010 UT 49, ¶41; 2018 UT App 46, ¶31.

Thus, Defendant has not overcome the strong presumption of reasonableness. Nor has he established "actual unreasonable representation." See Tyler, 850 P.2d at 1259 (emphasis in original); accord Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687–89. This Court should deny Defendant's ineffectiveness claim for this reason alone.

B. Defendant has not proven prejudice.

Defendant argues that there is a reasonable probability that the jury would have acquitted him but for the omitted mental state language in Instruction 40. Br.Aplt.26-30.

To prove prejudice, Defendant must demonstrate "a reasonable probability" that but for counsel's performance, "the result of the proceeding

would have been different." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* Proof of prejudice "must be a demonstrable reality," not mere speculation. *Fernandez v. Cook*, 870 P.2d 870, 877 (Utah 1993). Errors that have an "isolated" or "trivial effect" on the verdict are not prejudicial. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695-96. Thus, even where a jury instruction is erroneous, the error may nevertheless be harmless in light of the evidence. *See State v. Hutchings*, 2012 UT 50, ¶¶24-28, 285 P.3d 1183.

For essentially the same reasons Defendant fails to show all competent counsel would have objected to Instruction 40, he fails to show prejudice. Instruction 40, whether read alone or with the other instructions, adequately conveyed the correct mental state to the jury.

Additionally, on this record, there is no reasonable likelihood that Defendant would have been acquitted but for counsel's alleged error of including Instruction 40. To prevail, Defendant must show that there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable result if the jury had been correctly instructed. *See, e.g., State v. Powell*, 2007 UT 9, ¶¶21-23, 154 P.3d 788. When assessing whether this is so, this Court must "consider the totality of the evidence" that was before the jury. *Hutchings*, 2012 UT 50, ¶28 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695). This Court must also "review the record facts in

a light most favorable to the jury's verdict." *Id.* ¶26 (quoting *State v. Holgate*, 2000 UT 74, ¶2, 10 P.3d 346). When assessing those facts, this Court "can rely on the presumption that the jury disbelieved the evidence in conflict with the jury verdict" *State v. Gardner*, 2007 UT 70, ¶25, 167 P.3d 1074; *see also Hutchings*, 2012 UT 50, ¶26.

In *Grunwald*, the erroneous jury instruction was not prejudicial because the evidence overwhelmingly demonstrated that Grunwald acted with the required mental state. 2018 UT App 46, ¶¶49-54. Thus, Grunwald had not proven ineffective assistance of counsel because her counsel's deficient performance did not prejudice her. *Id.* ¶75.

State v. Apodaca provides another example of a harmless jury instruction error. See 2018 UT App 131, 428 P.3d 99. The jury instructions erroneously allowed the jury to convict Apodaca of aggravated robbery as an accomplice if he acted knowingly instead of intentionally. Id. ¶76. On appeal, Apodaca argued that his counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the aggravated robbery instruction. Id. ¶68. This Court held that the inclusion of the erroneous jury instruction was not prejudicial because the evidence overwhelmingly demonstrated that Apodaca acted with the required intentional mental state. Id. ¶¶79-83. Thus, Apodaca's counsel was not

ineffective because he had not proven the prejudice element of $Strickland\ v$. Washington. $Id.\ 984$.

So too here. The objective evidence overwhelmingly demonstrated that Defendant acted with the require intentional mental state.

At trial, the State presented Victim, Girlfriend, and police testimony, video surveillance of the PT Cruiser flipping over, photos of Defendant leaving the scene, and Defendant's videotaped police interview. R558-60, 637-38; SE 8-11. Both Victim and Girlfriend testified that Defendant looked for jumper cables—perpetuating Rakes's ruse. R559, 637-38. And Victim testified that Defendant also threatened him with a gun. R558, 560. Victim and Girlfriend's accounts never changed. *See* R863.

The jury saw Defendant's police interview where Defendant gave multiple stories — at first denying any knowledge and finally admitting to the plan and his participation. R716-19, 752, 756, 763-775; SE11 (00:34-16:04). Defendant's videotaped police interview corroborated much of Victim and Girlfriend's testimony. During the interview, Defendant admitted that the Victim moved his car nose-to-nose with the PT Cruiser, Victim stood on the passenger side in between the cars, and Rakes chased Victim. SE 11 (8:55-16:04). Defendant admitted that he knew that Rakes wanted Victim's car and planned to isolate Victim by asking him for a jump-start. *Id.* Defendant

admitted that he went along with Rakes's ruse by pretending to look for jumper cables. *Id.* And Defendant admitted that he did not walk away from the robbery. *Id.* Thus, objective evidence showed that Defendant intentionally participated in Rakes's plan.

Despite this, Defendant argues that the jury heard "compelling evidence upon which they could have doubted" Defendant's guilt. Br.Aplt.26. Defendant argues that the evidence did not support that there was a mutual plan to rob Defendant, Defendant wanted to take part in the crime, or Victim was credible. Br.Aplt. 26-28. But the jury heard all of the evidence—including the evidence Defendant points to—and convicted anyway.

Defendant also argues that the jury "could perhaps conclude" that Defendant acted "recklessly." Br.Aplt.28. But the jury was never instructed on the reckless mental state. R205-29. Indeed, the only mental state the jury was instructed on was intentionally. R215. Without an instruction, Defendant cannot show that the jury would have relied on the wrong mental state to convict.

Thus, Defendant has not—and cannot—show but for counsel's alleged error, there was a reasonable likelihood that the jury would have acquitted him.

DEFENDANT HAS NOT PROVEN THAT HIS COUNSEL PERFORMED INEFFECTIVELY BY NOT OBJECTING TO THE JURY RE-WATCHING THE VIDEO OF HIS POLICE INTERVIEW DURING DELIBERATIONS

Defendant argues that the trial court erred when it denied his mistrial motion because he was prejudiced by the jury re-watching the video of his police interview during its deliberations. Br.Aplt.32-39.

The trial court agreed with Defendant that the jury should not have viewed the interview during deliberations, but denied his motion because any error was harmless. R259. The court explained that any error was harmless because the State presented ample evidence to support the jury's guilty verdict. *Id.* The court also explained that Defendant would have benefitted from any undue weight the jury may have given the video, the jury only had access to the video for twenty minutes, and the jury did not have the ability to repeatedly view the testimony during deliberations. R259-60.

Although Defendant did not object before the jury requested the video evidence—and re-watched at least a portion of the interview video, he argues that his mistrial motion sufficed to preserve an objection; alternatively, Defendant argues that his counsel was ineffective for not preventing the videotaped interview from "stay[ing] out of the jury room," in the first instance. Br.Aplt.32-39.

But Defendant's after-the-fact mistrial motion was too late to preserve his claim of error. He can therefore prevail only if he proves both *Strickland* elements: deficient performance and prejudice. 466 U.S. at 697. On this record, Defendant cannot prove either element.

A. Defendant's claim is unpreserved.

Defendant argues that his claim is preserved because the trial court ruled on his mistrial motion. Br.Aplt.37. Defendant is incorrect.

The purpose of the preservation rule is "two-fold." *State v. Larrabee*, 2013 UT 70, ¶15, 321 P.3d 1136. First, preservation affords the trial court "'an opportunity to address the claimed error, and if appropriate, correct it," "thereby promoting judicial economy." *Id.* And second, it prevents "defendants from foregoing an objection 'with the strategy of enhancing the defendant's chances of acquittal and then if that strategy fails ... claiming on appeal that the court should reverse,' thereby encouraging fairness." *Id.* (alteration in original).

To preserve a claim, a defendant must make a timely objection. *Id.* ¶16. An objection is not timely if it is made after the alleged error has occurred. *Id.* In *Larrabee*, Larrabee's motion to arrest judgment made two months after the trial concluded was not timely. *Id.* Larrabee's after-the-fact motion did not preserve his claims. *Id.* The supreme court explained that allowing

defendants to preserve a claim in an after-the-fact motion like a motion to arrest judgment "directly contradict[s] the purposes of the preservation rule." *Id.* The court explained that an after-the-fact motion is insufficient to preserve an issue because it deprives the trial court of any opportunity to timely address the issue at trial, allowing defendants to strategically forgo objecting without the risk of losing their ability to appeal that issue. *Id.*

In *State v. Fullerton*, 2018 UT 49, ¶50, 428 P.3d 1052, Fullerton's objection was not preserved because he raised it for the first time in a motion to arrest judgment. The supreme court explained that an objection not made during trial is "not timely if it is filed in a post-trial motion." *Id.* ¶49.

Like in *Larrabee* and *Fullerton*, Defendant's objection was untimely. Although Defendant had many opportunities to object to the jury rewatching the video of his police interview during its deliberations, he did not do so.

For example, Defendant did not object to the video being admitted as an exhibit—he instead stipulated to its admission. R735. Nor did Defendant object or bring the video to the court's attention at the close of the State's case when the State informed the court that it had all the evidence. R799. Defendant did not object when the trial court asked both parties to ensure that all the exhibits the jury should have access to during its deliberations

were compiled. R870-71. He did not object when the trial court asked the parties to examine the laptop the jury would presumably use to watch the video evidence, including the video of Defendant's police interview. *Id.* And he did not object when the jury requested the video evidence and the video of his interview was sent back to the jury room. R873.

To preserve his claim, Defendant should have either (1) at the time the State moved to admit the video into evidence, objected; (2) at the time the trial court asked the parties to make sure it had all of the exhibits for the jury to access during its deliberations, moved to exclude the video under Rule 17 (k), Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure; or (3) before the jury was excused to deliberate, moved to exclude the video under Rule 17 (k). Rule 17 (k) allows the jury to "take with them …all exhibits which have been received as evidence except exhibits that should not, in the opinion of the court, be in possession of the jury." But Defendant did none of this.

Defendant's after-the-fact mistrial motion deprived the trial court of the opportunity to address the issue during trial, before the video was given to the jury during their deliberations. Thus, his objection was untimely. See Larrabee, 2018 UT 70, ¶¶15-16. Defendant's claim is therefore not preserved.²

B. Defendant has not proven prejudice.

Because Defendant's claim is not preserved, he must prove that his counsel was ineffective for not preventing the jury from re-watching the video of his police interview during their deliberations. Br.Aplt.37-38.

As explained, to prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Defendant carries the heavy burden of proving that counsel performed deficiently. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687–88. He must also affirmatively prove "actual prejudice" resulting from counsel's deficient performance. *Tyler*, 850 P.2d at 1259. And where, as here, "it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 670.

Defendant cannot prove that he was prejudiced by the jury re-watching the video of his police interview because there was no reasonable likelihood

² Even if preserved, however, Defendant's claim still fails. First, Defendant affirmatively waived any objection, thus he is foreclosed from "taking advantage of an error committed at trial" because he "led the trial court into committing the error." *State v. Hamilton*, 2003 UT 22, ¶54, 70 P.3d 111 (defendant cannot take advantage of an error when he led the trial court into committing the error). In any event, as explained below, Defendant's claim fails because he cannot show harm. *See State v. Butterfield*, 2001 UT 59, ¶¶46-47, 27 P.3d 1133 (defendant must show "that there is a substantial likelihood that the jury would have found him not guilty").

that the jury would have acquitted him if it had not re-watched the video. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695-96. As shown in Point I, ample evidence supported Defendant's intention to aid Rakes in the commission of an aggravated robbery. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695 (in assessing whether a defendant has carried his burden, a reviewing court "must consider the totality of the evidence before the judge or jury.").

At trial, the State presented Victim's and Girlfriend's testimony, photos of Defendant leaving the scene, and Defendant's videotaped police interview. R558-560, 637-38; SE 8-11. Both Victim and Girlfriend testified that Defendant's role in the robbery was to perpetuate the ruse by searching for jumper cables. R558, 637-38. Victim testified that Defendant threatened him with his gun. R558-59. Victim and Girlfriend's accounts never changed. R863. The jury watched Defendant's police interview during trial, including his multiple versions of events and his last story where he admitted looking for jumper cables fully knowing that he was aiding Rakes in the carjacking. SE 11 (2:31-16:04).

Despite this evidence, Defendant argues that he was prejudiced by the jury re-watching the video of his police interivew because (1) the multiple versions of events he gave during the interview "could" have caused the jury to question his credibility; (2) the jury was "likely" exposed to video content

it had not seen at trial including Defendant in handcuffs; (3) the jury "likely" gave undue weight to the video; and (4) the fact the jury returned a verdict soon after requesting the video "suggests" that re-watching it influenced the jury verdict. Br.Aplt.35-36.

Defendant's claim fails because it is speculative. "[P]roof of ineffective assistance of counsel cannot be a speculative matter but must be a demonstrable reality." *Fernandez*, 870 P.2d at 877. Speculation "cannot substitute for proof of prejudice." *State v. Arguelles*, 921 P.2d 439, 441 (Utah 1996). Defendant's argument rests entirely on conjecture. He provides no evidence that re-watching the videotape influenced the jury at all. Without such supporting evidence and analysis, Defendant has not—and cannot—prove prejudice. *See Tyler*, 850 P.2d at 1259 (Defendant "has the difficult burden of showing... *actual prejudice*") (emphasis in original).

Regardless, Defendant argues that re-watching the video may have caused the jury to question his credibility because the video showed him telling multiple stories. Br.Aplt.33. But the jury already saw this evidence during trial. Thus, re-watching it was cumulative and unlikely to sway the jury. *See State v. Thomas*, 777 P.2d 445, 450 (Utah 1989) (in hearsay context, cumulative statements are harmless); *State v. Cruz*, 2016 UT App 234, ¶49, 387 P.3d 618 (no prejudice where jury watched CJC video during deliberations).

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